I. INTRODUCTION

At the surface, this case is about whether Jerry Jasman can sign

death certificates as a deputy coroner or investigator in the Grant County

Coroner's Office. On a deeper level, it is about the ability of an elected

county officer, in this case a county coroner, to select deputies and

employees and to decide what responsibilities to delegate to them.

Mr. Jasman previously served as the elected Grant County

Coroner. However, he stepped down from his position following an Alford

pleas to a misdemeanor for disorderly conduct, based on RCW 9.92.110,

which prohibits holding public office upon conviction of a crime. The

coroner elected to replace Mr. Jasman, Craig Morrison, subsequently hired

him to serve as deputy coroner and investigator because these positions do

not constitute public office and Mr. Jasman is the most qualified person in

the area to do the job.

Approximately 19 months later, the Grant County Prosecutor,

Angus Lee, filed a quo warranto action against Mr. Jasman, seeking to

prevent him from serving as deputy coroner or signing death certificates.

Prosecutor Lee did not raise the claim that Mr. Jasman violated the terms

of his plea in the context of the underlying criminal proceeding. From the

' Under a plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), the accused
maintains his or her innocence. See Clark v. Baines, 150 Wn.2d 905, 907 n.1 & 916, 84

P.3d 245 (2004) (describing nature and effect ofAlford plea).
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perspective of Coroner Morrison, the action is politically motivated and

part of a pattern of harassment.

Once the quo warranto action was filed, Mr. Jasman resigned from

his position as deputy coroner until the issue of his authority to sign death

certificates could be resolved, although he retained his position as

investigator. Coroner Morrison also directed Mr. Jasman not to sign any

death certificates until further notice.

Coroner Morrison filed a motion to intervene on grounds that the

quo warranto action affected his ability to hire deputies and employees

and delegate tasks to them. The superior court granted the motion and

aligned Coroner Morrison with Mr. Jasman.

In the meantime, Coroner Morrison submitted a request to the

County Commissioners of Grant County for funds to defend the quo

warranto action because Mr. Jasman was merely following his instructions

and acting in good faith within the scope of employment. The

commissioners initially approved the request, but they subsequently

reversed their decision based on legal advice from the Prosecutor's office.

Prosecutor Lee's simultaneous prosecution of the quo warranto action and

his advice to the county commissioners regarding the defense of the action

resulted in a conflict of interest that led the superior court to disqualify
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him and the other members of his office as counsel, although he remained

as the nominal plaintiff.

Independently of the tender of defense to the county

commissioners, Coroner Morrison and Mr. Jasman sought the appointment

of a special prosecutor to defend the prerogatives of the coroner's office.

However, the superior court deferred ruling on the motion pending a

decision on the merits of the quo warranto action.

On cross motions for summary judgment, the superior court

ultimately enjoined Mr. Jasman from signing death certificates, and denied

Coroner Morrison's and Mr. Jasman's request to appoint a special

prosecutor. From these decisions, Coroner Morrison and Mr. Jasman now

appeal.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The superior court erred in granting Prosecutor Lee's cross
motion for summary judgment against Mr. Jasman and
Coroner Morrison. CP 294 (¶ 1).

2. The superior court erred by denying Mr. Jasman's and
Coroner Morrison's cross motion for summary judgment
against Prosecutor Lee. CP 294 (¶ 2).

3.

	

The superior court erred by enjoining Mr. Jasman from
signing death certificates. CP 294 (¶ 5).

4. The superior court erred by denying appointment of a
special prosecutor to defend the quo warranto action. CP
294 (114).
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III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. How should the undefined words "officer" and "office" in
the constitutional and statutory provisions regarding
removal of public officers be interpreted? In particular, is a
deputy coroner or investigator with authority to sign death
certificates an officer, even though he or she is not required
to take an oath of office or post an official bond, does not
have a term of office, but serves at the will of the elected
county coroner, and does not have statutorily defined
duties, but performs tasks delegated by the county coroner?
(Assignments of Error Nos. 1-4.)

2. Is the appointment of a special prosecutor warranted to
defend this quo warranto action filed by a county
prosecutor, which affects the county coroner's ability to
select deputies and employees and delegate tasks to them?
(Assignment of Error No. 5.)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.

	

The Elected Grant County Coroner, Craig Morrison, Hires
Jerry Jasman As A Deputy Coroner And Investigator.

Jerry Jasman is the former elected Grant County Coroner. CP 141

(¶ 2). While in office, he entered an Alford plea to a misdemeanor for

disorderly conduct pursuant to RCW 9A.84.030(1)(a). CP 141 (¶ 2). 2 As

part of the plea, Mr. Jasman acknowledged the forfeiture of his right to

hold public office, as provided in RCW 9.92.120. CP 141 (¶ 4). When he

entered the plea, Mr. Jasman understood public office to mean elected

2 A person is guilty of disorderly conduct under RCW 9A.84.030(1)(a) if he or she
"[wises abusive language and thereby intentionally creates a risk of assault." (Brackets
added.)
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office. CP 141 (¶ 5). Accordingly, he stepped down from his position as

the elected Grant County Coroner. CP 141 (¶ 6).

Craig Morrison was elected as Grant County Coroner on

November 2, 2010, to fill the vacancy created by Mr. Jasman's

resignation. CP 142 (¶ 7) & 155 (¶ 2). On November 22, 2010, Coroner

Morrison hired Mr. Jasman to serve as deputy coroner and investigator,

based on the authority of RCW 36.16.070. CP 142 (¶¶ 8-9) & 155 (¶ 3).

Coroner Morrison hired Mr. Jasman because Mr. Jasman's

experience, training and abilities made him the most qualified person in

the area to fill them. CP 155 (1[3). Neither Coroner Morrison nor Mr.

Jasman believed the position of deputy coroner or investigator constituted

public office. CP 142 (¶ 9) & 156 (¶ 9). Mr. Jasman obtained an opinion

from counsel who represented him in the criminal proceeding, which he

shared with Coroner Morrison and the county commissioners, confirming

that his misdemeanor conviction did not preclude him from serving as

deputy coroner or investigator. CP 142 (¶ 10), 156 (¶ 10) & 165 (Ex. D-6).

When he was hired, Mr. Jasman took an oath of office, although he

now understands that it was not necessary to do so. CP 142 (¶ 11) & 156

(¶ 4). 3 Mr. Jasman did not post an official bond when he was hired as

deputy coroner and investigator. CP 142 (1[ 12). He serves at the will of,

3 Regarding the necessity of an oath of office for deputies and employees, see infra
pt. VI(B).
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and performs the tasks delegated by, Coroner Morrison. CP 142 (¶¶ 13-14)

& 156 (¶ 5). The duties are described in job descriptions . for deputy

coroner and investigator, maintained by the Grant County Human

Resources Department. CP 79-80 (deputy job description) & 82-84

(investigator job description). The job description for deputy coroner

provides that "[t]he position reports directly to the County Coroner."

CP 79 (brackets added). Similarly, the job description for investigator

provides "[p]erform ... duties as assigned by the Coroner." CP 82

(brackets & ellipses added). Neither of the job descriptions contains any

indication that the positions are public offices. See CP 79-80 & 82-84.

B.

	

Coroner Morrison Delegates The Task Of Signing Death
Certificates To Mr. Jasman.

One of the tasks performed by a coroner's office is the completion

and certification (i.e., signing) of death certificates. See RCW 70.58.170 &

.180. Death certificates are normally signed by a physician, physician's

assistant or nurse practitioner. See id. However, when a death occurs

without a health care provider in attendance, or when the death results

from unlawful or unnatural causes, then the certificate must be signed by a

local health officer, the coroner or medical examiner, or the prosecuting

attorney. See id.; CP 143 (¶ 15) & 156 (¶ 5).
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Death certificates must be signed within 72 hours after death

occurs. CP 143 (¶ 16) & 156 (¶ 6). Mr. Jasman and Coroner Morrison are

the only two people working in the Grant County Coroner's office. Id. If

Coroner Morrison is away from the office on official or personal business,

it creates a hardship if Mr. Jasman cannot sign the death certificates. Id.;

see also CP 79 (deputy job description, stating "[t]he position. is one ,,of

only two in the Coroner's office, serving on a rotating 24-hour on call

basis with the County Coroner"); CP 82 (investigator job description,

stating "[t]he position is one of only two in the Coroner's office, working

Weekends and Nights when required").

In addition, given the number of deaths that occur in Grant County,

it is not possible for Coroner Morrison to fully investigate each death

personally. CP 156 (¶ 7). He relies on Mr. Jasman to investigate deaths,

and believes that it is important for the person who performed the

investigation, and has personal knowledge of the facts, to sign the death

certificate. Id. The Washington State Department of Health has always

accepted the death certificates filed by Mr. Jasman. CP 143 (¶ 17) & 156

(J 8).4

4 As noted above, Mr. Jasman obtained an opinion from counsel that he could serve as
deputy coroner, which he shared with Coroner Morrison and the Grant County
Commissioners. CP 142 (¶ 10), 156 (¶ 10) & 165 (Ex. D-6). In addition, Coroner
Morrison inquired of the Washington State Department of Health (DOH), regarding
whether Mr. Jasman could sign death certificates. DOH did not raise any objection, and
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C. The Grant County Prosecutor, Angus Lee, Files A Quo
Warranto Action Against Mr. Jasman, Alleging That He Is Not
Eligible To Serve As. Deputy Coroner Or Sign Death
Certificates.

Approximately 19 months after Coroner Morrison hired Mr.

Jasman, Prosecutor Lee filed this quo warranto action against Mr. Jasman.

CP 4-9 (quo warranto information) & 157 (¶ 14). Prosecutor Lee did not

raise the claim that Mr. Jasman violated the terms of his Alford plea in-the

context of the underlying criminal proceeding. From the perspective of

Coroner Morrison, the quo warranto action "is politically motivated and

shows evidence of the longstanding harassment" his office has received

from Prosecutor Lee's office since his election. CP 163.

The information alleges that Prosecutor Lee has authority to bring

a quo warranto action "pursuant to RCW 7.56.010 and .020." CP 4. The

information further alleges that Mr. Jasman "has unlawfully exercised the

public office of coroner or deputy coroner[.]" CP 4 (brackets added);

accord CP 6-7 (¶¶ 3.14 & 3.16, stating Mr. Jasman "is precluded from

serving as the Grant County Coroner or as a Grant County deputy

the agency has accepted all death certificates signed by Mr. Jasman. CP 157 (¶ 11) &
166-67 (Ex. D-7). Coroner Morrison also asked the Washington Association of Coroners
and Medical Examiners (WACME) for a formal opinion whether Mr. Jasman could sign
death certificates. WACME did not raise any objection either, although it declined to
issue an opinion. CP 157 (¶ 12) & 168 (Ex. D-8). Meanwhile, Prosecutor Lee asked the
Washington State Attorney General's Office (AGO) for a formal opinion whether Mr.
Jasman could serve as deputy coroner or investigator and sign death certificate. As with
WACME, the AGO did not raise any objection, but declined to issue an opinion. CP 157
(¶ 13), 169 (Ex. D-9) & 170 (Ex. D-10).
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coroner"). Specifically, the information identifies the signing of death

certificates as the allegedly unlawful exercise of public office. CP 7

(¶¶ 3.17-3.20). The information seeks declaratory judgment that Mr.

Jasman "unlawfully exercised the public office of Grant County Coroner

or deputy coroner[,]" and injunctive relief prohibiting him "from

performing the duties of the Grant County Coroner or of a deputy coroner,

including the completion and/or signing of death certificates[.]" CP 8

(¶¶ 5.1-5.3, brackets added).

D. Mr. Jasman Resigns From His Position As Deputy Coroner
(But Not Investigator) And Coroner Morrison Instructs Him
Not To Sign Death Certificates Pending The Outcome Of The
Quo Warranto Action.

After being served with the quo warranto information, Mr. Jasman

resigned from his position as deputy coroner, although he remains in the

position of investigator. CP 143 (¶ 18), 157 (¶ 15) & 160 (Ex. D-1).

Coroner Morrison accepted the resignation and instructed Mr. Jasman not

to sign death certificates pending resolution of Mr. Jasman's authority to

serve as deputy coroner and/or sign death certificates in the quo warranto

action. CP 143 (¶ 19), 157 (¶ 16) & 162 (Ex. D-3). They subsequently

notified Prosecutor Lee of these actions, and Mr. Jasman has not signed

any death certificates, despite the resulting hardship for the coroner's

office. CP 143 (¶J 18-19), 157-58 (¶¶ 16-17) & 162 (Ex. D-3).
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The Superior Court Allows Coroner Morrison To Intervene
And Aligns Him With Mr. Jasman.

Coroner Morrison moved to intervene in the quo warranto action,

on grounds that the action interfered with his authority to hire deputies and

employees as well as his authority to delegate tasks to them. CP 196-97

(motion), 199-02 (memorandum), 204-06 (Morrison declaration) & 211-

12 (Jasman declaration). 5 The superior court granted the motion- to

intervene and aligned Coroner Morrison with Mr. Jasman as a defendant.

CP 290-91.

F. Prosecutor Lee Interferes With The Defense Of The Quo
Warranto Action, And The Superior Court Disqualifies Him
And The Other Members Of The Prosecutor's Office.

In the meantime, Coroner Morrison submitted a request to the

Grant County Commissioners for funds to defend and indemnify Mr.

Jasman in the quo warranto action, because he was merely following

instructions and acting in good faith within the scope of his employment.

CP 144 (¶ 20), 158 (¶ 18) & 163 (Ex. D-4). The commissioners initially

approved the request. CP 144 (1121), 158 (¶ 20) & 164 (Ex. D-5).

However, they subsequently reversed their decision "[b]ased on legal

5 See, e.g., CP 5 (quo warranto information, ¶ 3.6, alleging "Coroner Morrison hired
JASMAN as the Coroner Chief Investigator"); CP 7 (¶ 3.18, alleging "it is the intent and
desire of Coroner Morrison to allow JASMAN to continue completion of death
certificates"); CP 48 (motion for preliminary injunction, lines 34-38, stating "Coroner
Morrison approved of JASMAN's intrusion upon public office, and/or JASMAN acting
as a public officer").
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advice from the Prosecuting Attorney's office[.]" CP 164 (Ex. D-5,

brackets added).

Prosecutor Lee's simultaneous prosecution of the quo warranto

action and his advice to the county commissioners regarding the defense

of the action created a conflict of interest, resulting in disqualification of

himself and the members of his office as counsel. 6 Following

disqualification, Prosecutor Lee remains as the nominal plaintiff in the quo

warranto action, although he is represented by a special deputy

prosecuting attorney appointed pursuant to RCW 36.27.040.

G. Coroner Morrison And Mr. Jasman Seek Appointment Of A
Special Prosecutor To Represent The Interests Of The
Coroner's Office.

Independently from the tender of defense to the Grant County

Commissioners, Coroner Morrison and Mr. Jasman sought the

appointment of a special prosecutor pursuant to RCW 36.27.030, on

grounds that the quo warranto action impinges upon the right and

responsibility of Coroner Morrison, as an elected county officer, to

manage his office. CP 196 (motion) & 201-02 (memorandum). However,

the superior court deferred ruling on the motion pending a decision on the

merits of the quo warranto action. CP 294.

6 A declaration of Prof. John A. Strait describes the conflict of interest. The declaration
and the superior court's orders disqualifying counsel and denying reconsideration of the
disqualification order are being transmitted to the Court pursuant to a supplemental
designation of clerk's papers.
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H. The Superior Court Ultimately Grants The Injunctive Relief
Requested In The Quo Warranto Action, And Denies Coroner
Morrison's and Mr. Jasman's Request For Appointment Of A
Special Prosecutor.

On cross motions for summary judgment, the superior court

enjoined Mr. Jasman from signing death certificates, and denied Coroner

Morrison's and Mr. Jasman's request to appoint a special prosecutor. CP

292-94. From these decisions, Coroner Morrison and Mr. Jasman now

appeal.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Forfeiture of the right to hold public office upon conviction of a

misdemeanor does not preclude employment as a deputy or employee. The

undefined words "officer" and "office," as used in the constitutional and

statutory provisions regarding removal of a public officer, Wash. Const.

Art. 5, § 3, RCW 7.56.010(1) and 9.92.120, should be interpreted in

accordance with the common, ordinary and accepted meaning, as

recognized in Nelson v. Troy, 11 Wash. 435, 39 Paz. 974 (1895), and

reaffirmed in State ex rel. McIntosh v. Hutchinson, 187 Wash. 61, 59 P.2d

1117 (1936). Under the common meaning, "[a]n employee or a deputy is

not an officer." McIntosh, 187 Wash. at 63 (citing Nelson; brackets

added). Alternate definitions proposed by Prosecutor Lee from the

' The notice of appeal is being transmitted to the Court pursuant to a supplemental
designation of clerk's papers
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Criminal Code, RCW 9A.04.110(13), and the Code of Ethics for

Municipal Officers, RCW 42.23.020(1), are inapplicable.

Properly understood, Jerry Jasman does not hold public office nor

can he be considered a public officer. As deputy coroner and investigator,

he is not elected, nor is he required to take an oath of office or post an

official bond, nor are the term and responsibilities of his employment

determined by 'statute. Instead, he is hired, and the term and

responsibilities of his employment are determined in the discretion of the

elected county coroner. As a result, Mr. Jasman' s misdemeanor conviction

is not an impediment to serving in these positions, and there is no basis for

this quo warranto action.

Mr. Jasman and Coroner Morrison are entitled to appointment of

counsel as a special prosecutor and reimbursement of attorney fees and

costs incurred herein because this quo warranto action is an attack on the

prerogatives of the elected county coroner's office, including the coroner's

ability to hire deputies and employees and delegate tasks to them.

Prosecutor Lee's prosecution of this quo warranto action precludes him

from providing the defense that he would otherwise be obligated to

provide.

On de novo review, this Court should reverse summary judgment

granted in Prosecutor Lee's favor, grant summary judgment in Mr.

13



Jasman's and Coroner Morrison's favor, appoint their counsel as a special

prosecutor, and award attorney fees and costs incurred in the superior

court and on appeal.

VI. ARGUMENT

A.

	

The Standard Of Review Is De Novo, And No Deference Is Due
To The Superior Court's Summary Judgment Order.

The rulings of the superior court to which Coroner Morrison and

Mr. Jasman assign error were all made in connection with summary

judgment proceedings, and are embodied in the court's summary judgment

order. CP 294. Rulings on summary judgment are subject to review de

novo, and no deference is due to the decision of the superior court. See

Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 922, 296 P.3d 860

(2013). In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court

must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party

and draw all reasonable inference from the evidence in that party's favor.

See id. Summary judgment should only be granted if there is no genuine

issue of disputed material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment

as a matter of law. See id.

In this case, there do not appear to be any genuine issues of

disputed material fact. Instead, the parties dispute the legal significance of

the facts regarding Mr. Jasman's employment as a deputy coroner or
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investigator with authority to sign death certificates, and whether such

employment constitutes "public office" within the meaning of

RCW 9.92.120. Before addressing this issue, it is helpful to review the

constitutional and statutory provisions relating to county officers,

including county coroners, and the distinctions between such public

officers and their deputies and employees.

B.

	

Overview Of County Officers, And The Distinctions Between
Such Officers And Their Deputies And Employees.

County offices are established by the legislature pursuant to

authority granted by the state constitution:

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