JUL 12 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

NO. 31519-3-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION THREE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

D. ANGUS LEE, Grant County Prosecuting Attorney, by and through the Office of the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney,

Respondent,

v.

JERRY JASMAN, a single person,

Appellant,

and

CRAIG MORRISON, Intervener,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

D. ANGUS LEE Prosecuting Attorney PO Box 37 Ephrata, WA 9882309937

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jerry Jasman served as the Grant County Coroner for a number of years. *See* CP 141, ¶ 2. During that service, Jasman was charged with Unlawful Imprisonment in Grant County Superior Court Cause No. 09-1-00329-0. CP 64. The offense was committed while Jasman was driving the Grant County Coroner's Office's truck. CP 63.

⁴Prosecutor Lee filed a timely notice of cross-appeal. Prosecutor Lee withdraws this notice pursuant to RAP 18.2, as the issue is now moot as substitute counsel have represented Prosecutor Lee in both the superior court and this court.

Jasman eventually resolved this matter by pleading guilty to the crime of disorderly conduct. CP 141, ¶ 3. As part of the plea, Jasman acknowledged the conviction would result in a forfeiture of his ability to hold public office. CP 141, ¶ 4. The judgment and sentence that was entered in Grant County Superior Court Cause No. 09-1-00329-0, included a statement that "Defendant acknowledges the forfeiture of his right to hold public office, as provided in RCW 9.92.120." CP 68, at page 6. Consistent with this understanding, Jasman resigned as the Grant County Coroner. CP 141, ¶ 6.

Following Jasman's resignation as coroner, the public elected Craig Morrison as the Grant County Coroner. CP 155, at ¶ 1-2. Coroner Morrison assumed office on November 22, 2010. *Id.* Shortly after assuming office, Coroner Morrison hired Jasman as the Coroner Chief Investigator and/or Chief Deputy Coroner. CP 155, at ¶ 3.

While employed as a coroner investigator, Jasman engaged in conduct that, by law, may only be performed by the coroner or the coroner's deputies. Specifically, Jasman signed a number of death certificates that purported to determine the manner and mode by which the deceased came to his or her

⁵The duties of a coroner investigator differ from the duties of a deputy coroner. *Compare* CP 77 with CP 80. See also CP 105-06.

⁶No oath of office as a deputy coroner was on file with the Grant County Auditor's Office when these death certificates were signed. CP 40. Jasman's oath of office was apparently maintained by Coroner Morrison, contrary to RCW 36.16.060, which requires all oaths of deputies to be filed with the county auditor. See CP 142, at ¶ 11, CP 147, CP 156, at ¶ 4.

death. See CP 84-86.

The Grant County Prosecutor's Office advised Coroner Morrison that Jasman could not sign death certificates as his conviction prevented Jasman from serving as a deputy coroner. CP 41, 91. In light of this advice, Coroner Morrison filed an affidavit of correction with respect to one of the death certificates signed by Jasman. *See* CP 88. Jasman, however, continued to sign death certificates. *See* CP 91-94.⁷

Unable to obtain Jasman's voluntary compliance with the law, D. Angus Lee, the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney, filed a *quo warranto* action pursuant to RCW 7.56.010 and 7.56.020. CP 3. In this action, Prosecutor Lee sought entry of an order ousting, prohibiting and excluding Jasman from exercising the public office of Grant County Coroner or deputy coroner. CP 7. Prosecutor Lee also sought a permanent injunction enjoining Jasman from performing the duties of the Grant County Coroner or of a deputy coroner, including the completion and/or signing of death certificates. *Id.*

Jasman counterclaimed seeking declaratory judgment that a deputy coroner does not hold "public office". CP 115, at ¶¶ 14.1-14.3. Jasman also requested that the court appoint a specific attorney, George Ahrend, as a

⁷Coroner Morrison disagreed with the legal opinion of the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney as to Jasman's ability to serve as a deputy coroner. Coroner Morrison solicited legal opinions from a variety of other sources. *See, e.g.*, CP 90, CP 156, at ¶ 10-13.

"special prosecutor" to defend Jasman in the *quo warranto* action. CP 115, at ¶ 15.1 C. Jasman also contended that Coroner Morrison was the real party in interest in the *quo warranto* action. See CP 113, ¶¶ 7.1 and 8.1.

Prior to filing his answer, Coroner Morrison e-mailed a letter to the Board of County Commissioners in which Coroner Morrison requested "funds to cover independent legal counsel to defend and indemnify my deputy and Chief Investigator Jerry Jasman to the extent that he was acting within the scope of his employment and in good faith, along with any other legal counsel needed by my office associated with this particular matter." CP 121. The Board of County Commissioners rejected the request for counsel after obtaining legal advice. CP 122 and CP 235-241, 246.

Coroner Morrison filed a motion to intervene in the *quo warranto* case. He also requested the appointment of Jasman's attorney as a special prosecutor pursuant to RCW 36.27.030. CP 196. Coroner Morrison made the request for a special prosecutor because he opposed the filing of the *quo warranto* action. CP 205, at ¶ 5. Morrison's motion to intervene was granted and he was aligned as a defendant in the matter. CP 290. His motion for appointment of counsel, however, was denied. CP 292.

Both Prosecutor Lee and Jasman/intervener Coroner Morrison filed motions for summary judgment. *See* CP 249 and 262. The trial court granted Prosecutor Lee's motion and denied Jasman/intervener Coroner Morrison's motion. CP 292. The trial court order prohibits and enjoins Jasman from

signing death certificates in Grant County. *Id.* No damages were awarded to Prosecutor Lee and Coroner Morrison retains the ability to employ Jasman. *Id.*

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS BARRED FROM OFFICE PURSUANT TO RCW 9.92.120 MAY NOT PERFORM THE DUTIES OF A COUNTY OFFICIAL.

A coroner is an elected officer, whose duties are established by the legislature. *See generally* Const. art. XI, § 5; RCW 36.16.030. Those duties are scattered throughout the Revised Code of Washington. *See, e.g.,* Chapter 36.24 RCW (county coroner); RCW 68.50.010 (coroner's jurisdiction over remains).

An important duty performed by the coroner is the completion of death certificates when the deceased died without medical attendance. *See* RCW 70.58.170 and 70.58.180. The death certificate serves important functions related to probate, suffrage, and taxes. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 11.12.265 (court clerk will unseal a will upon presentation of a death certificate); RCW 29A.08.510 (voter's registration will be canceled based upon a death certificate); RCW 82.45.197(death certificate required to receive excise tax exemption). A death certificate that is signed by someone who is not authorized by law to complete the document is inadmissible in court. *See State v. Bradfield*, 29 Wn. App. 679, 685-86, 630 P.2d 494, *review denied*, 96 Wn.2d 1018 (1981).

If the duties of coroner are greater than can be performed by the person elected to fill it, the coroner may employ deputies with the consent of the board of county commissioners. RCW 36.16.070. A deputy coroner may perform any act which the elected coroner may perform, with the elected coroner responsible for the actions of the deputy. *Id.* "And being legally authorized to act for and in place of the principal, the deputy is a public officer." 3 Eugene McQuillin, *The Law of Municipal Corporations* §12.33 at 234 (3d ed. 2001).

A deputy coroner is appointed for a definite term of office that coincides with the term of the officer granting the authority, subject to the officer's ability to shorten the term at will. *Spokane County v. State*, 136 Wn.2d 644, 655, 966 P.2d 305 (1998) ("Unless a deputy's appointment is revoked, the term of office for a deputy prosecutor ends when the term of the

⁸This Court recognized the difference between a deputy and an employee in *Smith v. Board of Walla Walla County Commissioners*, 48 Wn. App. 303, 309, 738 P.2d 1076 (1987):

Black's Law Dictionary defines deputy as: "A substitute; a person duly authorized by an officer to exercise some or all of the functions pertaining to the office, in the place and stead of the latter". Black's Law Dictionary 529 (4th rev. ed. 1968). Webster's Third New International Dictionary 607 (1976) defines deputy as: "a person appointed, nominated, or elected as the substitute of another and empowered to act for him, in his name, or in his behalf ... a second in command or an assistant who usually takes charge when his superior is absent". See RCW 36.16.070 ("A deputy may perform any act which his principal is authorized to perform"). See also Wilbur v. City Clerk of Los Angeles, 143 Cal.App.2d 636, 300 P.2d 84, 89 (1956); Commonwealth ex rel. Brothers v. McDowell, 59 A.2d 169, 170, 359 Pa. 304 (1948).

elected prosecutor ends."); *State ex rel. Day v. King County*, 50 Wn.2d 427, 428 n. 1, 312 P.2d 637 (1957) ("[t]he term of a deputy sheriff expires with the term of the sheriff who appointed him"); RCW 36.16.070. A deputy coroner's oath is to be treated the same as the oath of the coroner. Both are to be filed with the county auditor. RCW 36.16.060.

In the instant matter, Jasman's December 15, 2009, conviction disqualified him from ever after holding any public office in Washington. *See* CP 68 and RCW 9.92.120. Jasman, however, ignored the ban and signed death certificates on April 21, 2011, June 24, 2011, February 15, 2012, and February 23, 2012. CP 84, 86, 92, 94. In response, the trial court granted the writ of *quo warranto* and barred Jasman from unlawfully holding the office of deputy coroner⁹ and/or unlawfully exercising the office of coroner by signing death certificates. CP 292.

Jasman and intervener Coroner Morrison ask this Court to overturn the *quo warranto* order on a number of grounds. First, intervener Coroner Morrison complains that the order affects his ability to hire deputies and employees and to delegate tasks to them. *See* Brief of Appellants at 2 and 7. The important public policy grounds that support RCW 9.92.120 trump this

⁹Jasman signed at least one of these death certificates while serving as the "Chief Investigator", rather than as a deputy coroner. See CP 90 (Coroner Morrison stating in a letter that due to Jasman's conviction and forfeiture of the right to hold public office, he "employed Jerry as my Chief Investigator, an at-will employee, rather than deputizing him as an appointed official."). The statutes governing the completion of death certificates do not authorize a chief investigator to sign the document. See RCW 70.58.170 and 70.58.180.

concern.

RCW 9.92.120 was first enacted in 1909. *See* Laws of 1909, ch. 249, § 37. A companion statute, RCW 42.12.010, provided that an elective office shall be deemed vacant upon conviction or violation of oath, was enacted in 1866. Laws of 1866, p. 28, § 2. In discussing these two statutes, the Washington Supreme Court stated:

Vacancy in, or removal from, office as a result of a conviction of a public officer is not a punishment. Removal from office is simply a consequence of a reasonable and sound public policy, and a condition imposed upon a public official in furtherance of the public interest in good government. "Officers are elected not for the benefit of the individuals, but for the benefit of the community" Public officials can and should be removed, irrespective of detriment to the individuals involved if the interests of the community so require. That is precisely the legislative policy and purpose of RCW 42.12.010, and the reason the statute was enacted and has been continued on the books. Thus, the statute is an expression of public policy by the legislature, clearly within the ambit of the constitutional prerogative of that branch of state government, pursuant to Art. 5, § 3, 3 of the state constitution. The public policy as expressed by the legislature has stood unaltered for ninety-five years -- in fact, since territorial days. Basically, the statute is a legislative statement of qualifications for holding public office. One such qualification is that a public official convicted of "any offense involving a violation of his official oath" shall not hold a position of public trust. This court should not lightly brush aside determinations as to public policy duly and officially made by the legislative branch of government. Certainly, in the instant case we should not alter and revise qualifications established by the legislature for public officers -qualifications which are so well recognized and of such long standing.

An examination of the cases reveals that this court has recognized the wisdom of the legislative policy expressed in RCW 42.12.010 and RCW 9.92.120, certain arguments as to the unconstitutionality to the contrary not withstanding.

State ex rel. Zempel v. Twitchell, 59 Wn.2d 419, 430-31, 367 P.2d 985 (1962).

Intervener Coroner Morrison's desire to set the parameters of his employee's duties and/or administrative convenience are insufficient to set aside the order enjoining Jasman from signing death certificates. It is correct that Coroner Morrison has the authority to hire employees - but only to a point. Coroner Morrison is still bound by the law and cannot authorize an employee to take an action, the employee is not qualified to legally take. Indeed, a lawyer may have an assistant who is very educated in the law, but that does not allow the lawyer to authorize her assistant to practice law. A judge may have a clerk who is wise and judicious, but that does not allow the judge to have the clerk preside over cases for him. *See State v. Walker*, 101 Wn. App. 1,999 P.2d 1296, *review denied*, 142 Wn.2d 1013 (2000) (an arrest warrant issued by a court clerk without judicial involvement and in the absence of a statute or court rule that specifically authorizes the judge to delegate this authority to the clerk, is void).

Second, Jasman and intervener Coroner Morrison claim that the *quo* warranto order should be vacated because a deputy coroner is not an "officer". See Brief of Appellants, at 12. In making this argument, Jasman and intervener Coroner Morrison rely upon the case of Nelson v. Troy, 11 Wash. 435, 39 P. 974 (1895).

Nelson, however, dealt with a narrow interpretation of a state

constitutional provision and provides no guidance in the instant matter. In *Nelson*, a challenge was made to state legislation authorizing the employment of deputies to assist public officials, claiming that it violated Section 5, article 11 of the state constitution, which states that the legislature fixes the compensation of county officers. The *Nelson* decision was expressly limited to the interpretation of the issue at hand, *i.e.*, whether the legislation conflicted with the constitutional provision. *Nelson*, 11 Wash. at 441. The *Nelson* court specifically acknowledged that there may be other circumstances where the term "officer" would include a deputy:

It seems to us that the determination of this question lies within a very narrow compass. The question is, what is meant by the term "officer," as used in the section of the constitution under consideration? . . . The view which the learned majority of the California court has taken of the subject in the case of Dougherty v. Austin seems to deny the existence of any distinction between the "officer" and the deputy, and the term "officer" seems to have been rendered so as to include deputies and all needful assistants. Doubtless many instances might arise requiring such construction. . . .

Nelson, 11 Wash. at 440-41 (emphasis added).

Here, the public policy that underlies RCW 9.92.120 requires the statute to be construed as including deputies. To allow Jasman to return to essentially the same position with the same duties, albeit unelected, greatly undermines the important public policies underlying RCW 9.92.120 and RCW 42.12.010. The trial court recognized this and correctly extended the statute to Jasman, in whichever role he was acting when signing death

certificates.¹⁰ The Washington Supreme Court has also determined that the strong public policy that underlies RCW 9.92.120 requires the statute to be construed as including deputies.

In *Hubbard v. Spokane County*, 146 Wn.2d 699, 50 P.3d 602 (2002), the Court dealt with an employment issue of a planning director. In its opinion, the *Hubbard* court stressed the public policy regarding public officials contained in the Ethics in Public Service Act, RCW 42.23.070. The strong public policy for honesty and integrity of public officers extends to their deputies and to "all persons exercising or undertaking to exercise any of the powers or functions of a municipal officer." *Hubbard*, 146 Wn.2d at 713 n. 21 (quoting RCW 42.23.020(2)¹¹). In extending this public policy to the planning director, the Court focused on the important public role that the planning director occupies, based upon his authority to oversee and enforce building and zoning codes. *Id.* The Court noted that their holding places a significant burden on public officials, but determined that it was appropriate to hold public officials to such a high standard. *Hubbard*, 146 Wn.2d at 713.

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